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On behalf of the American Bird Conservancy and Black Swamp Bird Observatory

(collectively referred to herein as “ABC”), we hereby provide notice of intent to sue, pursuant to
section 11(g) of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) (“ESA”), concerning the Ohio

Air National Guard’s (“ANG”) installation and long-term operation of a wind turbine at Camp
Perry in Ottawa County, Ohio, which is violating and will continue to violate section 7 of the

ESA — because ANG has refused even to engage in consultation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife

Service (“FWS” or “Service”) in the manner mandated by the ESA and its implementing
regulations — and is expected to “take” federally endangered Kirtland’s warblers (Setophaga




kirtlandii) and piping plovers (Charadrius melodus) in violation of sections 7 and 9 of the ESA.
Id. 88 1536, 1538(a)(1)(B).

In addition to the serious ESA violations raised in this letter, as explained below ANG’s
construction and operation of a wind turbine as currently proposed will violate other laws
including the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (“BGEPA™), 16 U.S.C. 88§ 668-668d, the
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (“MBTA”), 16 U.S.C. 8§ 703-712, and the National Environmental
Policy Act (“NEPA™), 42 U.S.C. 88 4321-4370f.

In light of the myriad legal violations raised in this letter, the serious threat posed to
legally protected avian populations, the inadequate response to the Service’s and Ohio DNR’s
concerns, the failure to follow necessary pre-construction safeguards, and our understanding of
the imminence of construction activities, we request to hear back from ANG by no later than
January 20, 2014 regarding the concerns outlined in this letter. If we do not receive an adequate
response to our concerns by that date, ABC will have no choice but to consider legal action. Itis
our preference, however, to work in a collaborative fashion with ANG and the Service to rectify
the violations described herein and to consider alternatives other than wind power to meet
ANG’s renewable energy needs.

It is important to emphasize that ABC’s position is that wind power can be an important
tool in fighting climate change and can broadly result in benefits to birds and their habitats. As a
result, we support the military’s commitment (and ANG’s in particular) to gradually increasing
its share of energy usage from renewable sources. However, the available empirical data also
demonstrate that wind energy projects, when poorly sited, can negatively impact birds —
including eagles, migratory songbirds, and rare and endangered species — in significant ways
through collisions with turbines and associated power lines, and through loss and degradation of
essential habitat. Accordingly, any renewable energy project — or any energy project for that
matter — must be sited, constructed, operated, and mitigated in a manner that is environmentally
sustainable to obtain the potential benefits of that project. This includes full compliance with all
federal environmental laws.!

As to this particular project, ABC stresses its view that the south shore of Lake Erie, as a
critically important migratory bottleneck for neotropical birds on their way to the boreal forests
of Canada through Point Pelee, Ontario, is an inappropriate location for the development of wind
energy, as the risk it poses to federally-protected birds, such as piping plovers, Kirtland’s
warblers, other migrants, and bald eagles is simply too high. Many other wind projects are
planned for this area and others are currently being built without appropriate federal or state
oversight as to their potential impact, both individually and cumulatively, to protected birds

! The Service — the expert federal wildlife agency — adheres to a similar view of renewable
energy. See Dec. 4, 2007 FWS Letter to Michael Curry at 1 (Exhibit 1) (“The Fish and Wildlife
Service (Service) supports the development of wind power as an alternative energy source,
however, wind developments can have negative impacts on wildlife and their habitats if not sited
and designed with potential wildlife and habitat impacts in mind. Selection of the best sites for
turbine placement is enhanced by ruling out sites with known, high concentrations of birds . . .

).



under the ESA, BGEPA, MBTA, and NEPA. Given the importance of this area to bird
conservation, at bare minimum each project should be subject to substantial public and
government scrutiny and risk assessment. At the very least, an Environmental Impact Statement
(“EIS”) and consultation with the Service under section 7 of the ESA should be required for
every project with any federal nexus being considered for this sensitive area. The fact that a
federal agency is not following required wildlife protection measures is a disturbing precedent
and sends completely the wrong message to other wind developers. ABC experts will carefully
study the results of those investigations and consultations to independently assess the wisdom of
locating wind energy facilities in this region, regardless of the level of proposed mitigation and
compensation. Having reviewed the existing data concerning the Camp Perry ANG selected
turbine site, our view is that this particular site presents a very high collision risk to local bird
populations — including endangered species, eagles, and MBTA-protected species — and will in
turn violate several federal wildlife laws.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

A. Endangered Species Act

Congress enacted the ESA to ensure that “the ecosystems upon which endangered and
threatened species depend [are] conserved, [and] to provide a program for the conservation of
such endangered species and threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. 8 1531. The ESA reflects “an
explicit congressional decision to afford first priority to the declared national policy of saving
endangered species.” Tenn. Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 185 (1978).

Section 9 of the ESA prohibits any “person” from “taking” any member of an endangered
species. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a). The term “take” is defined broadly to include “harass, harm,
pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, Kill, trap, capture, or collect.” Id. 8 1532(19). The Service has
further defined “harass” to include “an intentional or negligent act or omission which creates the
likelihood of injury to wildlife by annoying it to such an extent as to significantly disrupt normal
behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding, or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3. In addition,
“harm” is defined to “include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually
kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including
breeding, feeding or sheltering.” 1d.

Section 7 of the ESA directs all federal agencies, in consultation with the Service, to use
their existing authorities to conserve threatened or endangered species. 16 U.S.C. 8 1536(a)(1);
see id. § 1532(3) (defining “conservation”). That section further requires all agencies to “insure
that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by such agency . . . is not likely to jeopardize
the continued existence of any endangered species.” Id. § 1536(a)(2). To carry out this
obligation, an agency formally “consults” with the FWS when it undertakes an action that “may
affect listed species,” unless FWS concurs in writing in a finding by the action agency that “that
the proposed action is not likely to adversely affect any listed species.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.14. If
effects are likely, the agency requesting consultation must “provide the [Service] with the best
scientific and commercial data available.” 1d. Formal consultation, if commenced, results in the
issuance by the Service of a Biological Opinion, which requires terms and conditions specifically
designed to minimize the take of endangered and threatened species.



B. Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act

BGEPA prohibits “take” of any bald or golden eagle “at any time or in any manner”
“without being permitted to do so” by the Service. 16 U.S.C. 8 668(a) (imposing criminal
penalties for unlawful take done “knowingly, or with wanton disregard”), id. § 668(b) (imposing
civil penalties for unlawful take on a strict liability basis). BGEPA defines the term “take”
broadly to include “wound, kill . . . molest or disturb.” Id. § 668c. “Take” under BGEPA
includes direct incidental take, such as electrocution of eagles from power lines or collisions with
wind turbines, as well as indirect incidental take, such as habitat modification and human
disturbance that adversely impact eagles.

BGEPA allows the Service to issue permits authorizing the take or disturbance of golden
eagles provided that such take “is compatible with the preservation of the bald eagle or the
golden eagle.” 16 U.S.C. § 668a. In 2009, the Service promulgated regulations for issuing
incidental take permits for both individual instances of take as well as “programmatic take” for
take that is recurring. 50 C.F.R. 8 22.26. The Service may issue an eagle take permit so long as
the take is: (1) “compatible with the preservation” of eagles; (2) necessary to protect an interest
in a particular locality; (3) associated with but not the purpose of the activity; and (4) for
individual instances of take, the take cannot practicably be avoided; or for programmatic take,
take is unavoidable even though advanced conservation practices are being implemented. Id. §
22.26(f). For purposes of these regulations, “compatible with the preservation” of eagles means
“consistent with the goal of stable or increasing breeding populations.” Service, Final Rule:
Eagle Permits; Take Necessary To Protect Interests in Particular Localities, 74 Fed. Reg. 46,837
(Sept. 11, 2009) (codified at 50 C.F.R. pt. 22).

To avoid liability under BGEPA, a project developer that wishes to build a project in
known eagle habitat must coordinate with the Service before project construction to determine
whether the project is likely to disturb eagles and if so, whether such take can be avoided.
During this process, the Service must evaluate several factors, including eagles’ prior exposure
and tolerance to similar activity in the vicinity; the availability of alternative suitable eagle
nesting or feeding areas that would not be detrimentally affected by the activity; cumulative
effects of other permitted take and other additional factors affecting eagle populations; and the
possibility of permanent loss of an important eagle use area. See 50 C.F.R. § 22.26(e). If the
take or disturbance of eagles cannot be avoided entirely, a permit must be acquired. However, if
the Service determines that “take is not likely to occur,” a permit is not required. See 50 C.F.R. §
22.26(g). Acquisition of a permit where there is a likelihood of eagle take ensures compliance
with BGEPA by authorizing ongoing unavoidable take, as well as by promoting eagle
conservation through required implementation of avoidance and mitigation measures such as
compensatory mitigation. Id. § 22.26(c).

C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act

The MBTA strictly prohibits Killing migratory birds without authorization from the
Interior Department. Enacted to fulfill the United States’ treaty obligations, the MBTA provides
that “[u]nless and except as permitted by regulations made as hereinafter provided in this
subchapter, it shall be unlawful at any time, by any means or in any manner, to pursue, hunt,



take, capture, kill, attempt to take, capture, or kill . . . any migratory bird.” 16 U.S.C. § 703(a)
(emphasis added). The Secretary is authorized to permit the killing of birds otherwise protected
by the l;/IBTA when doing so would be compatible with migratory bird conventions. Id. §
704(a).

Where federal agencies themselves undertake a project which will inevitably result in
migratory bird mortalities — regardless of whether the mortalities are intentional — without first
obtaining authorization from the Interior Department to kill migratory birds, the agency’s actions
are unlawful. See Humane Soc’y of the U.S. v. Glickman, 217 F.3d 882, 884-88 (D.C. Cir. 2000)
(holding that federal agencies must obtain authorization from the Department of the Interior
before they kill birds protected by the MBTA, or permit state agencies to do so); see also City of
Sausalito v. O’Neill, 386 F.3d 1186, 1204 (9th Cir. 2004) (holding that “anyone who is
‘adversely affected or aggrieved’ by an agency action alleged to have violated the MBTA has
standing to seek judicial review of that action”); United States v. Moon Lake Elec. Ass’n, 45 F.
Supp. 2d 1070 (D. Colo. 1999) (holding that the MBTA prohibits the unintentional killing of
protected birds by power lines); United States v. Corbin Farm Serv., 444 F. Supp. 510, 532-36
(E.D. Cal. 1978) (holding that the MBTA prohibits the unintentional killing of protected birds by
pesticide poisoning).

In particular, courts have held that activities undertaken without an MBTA permit by
federal agencies (including military agencies) that are predicted to result in incidental take of
migratory birds constitute violations of the MBTA. See Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. Pirie,
191 F. Supp. 2d 161, 174-75 (D.D.C. 2002), vac’d as moot sub nom., Ctr. for Biological
Diversity v. England, No. 02-5163, 2003 WL 179848 (D.C. Cir. Jan. 23, 2003) (holding that
Navy training exercises, which were not “directed at wildlife” but did have the predictable and
“direct consequence of killing and harming migratory birds,” violated the MBTA’s take
prohibiti%n, and explaining that “the MBTA prohibits both intentional and unintentional
killing”).

2 The Service has promulgated regulations establishing criteria for MBTA permits, including a
regulation, 50 C.F.R. § 21.27, that authorizes a permit when an applicant — which can be a
private entity or a federal agency — demonstrates a “compelling justification.” Id. Last year, for
example, the National Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”) — another federal agency — applied to
the Service for a permit under this regulation that would *“authorize incidental take of two
[species of] migratory birds . . . by NMFS in its regulation of the shallow-set longline fishery” in
Hawaii. See Special Purpose Application: Hawaii Longline Fishery, 77 Fed. Reg. 1501, 1502
(Jan. 10, 2012). If granted, the permit would “authorize incidental take of migratory birds” that
will be killed as an inevitable albeit unintended effect of the fishing lines regulated by NMFS.
Id.

% Congress responded to the ruling in Pirie by enacting the National Defense Authorization Act
for FY 2003, which expressly recognizes the Service’s authority to regulate incidental take. See
Pub. L. No. 107-314, 8 315, 116 Stat. 2458. Section 315 of that Act provides that the Secretary
of the Interior “shall exercise the authority of the Secretary under [Section 704(a) of the MBTA]
to prescribe regulations” specifically relating to the “incidental taking of migratory birds during
military readiness activitie[s].” Id. Notably, even in the case of such activities, Congress did not
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D. National Environmental Policy Act

Congress created NEPA more than four decades ago “[t]o declare a national policy which
will encourage productive and enjoyable harmony between man and his environment; to promote
efforts which will prevent or eliminate damage to the environment . ...” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 4321. In
light of this mandate, the Supreme Court has reasoned that NEPA is “intended to reduce or
eliminate environmental damage and to promote ‘the understanding of the ecological systems
and natural resources important to’ the United States.” Dep’t of Transp. v. Pub. Citizen, 541
U.S. 752, 756 (2004) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 4321).

In achieving NEPA'’s substantive goals, Congress created two specific mechanisms
whereby federal agencies must evaluate the environmental and related impacts of a particular
federal action —an EA and an EIS. See 42 U.S.C. 8 4332(c). These procedural mechanisms are
designed to inject environmental considerations “in the agency decisionmaking process itself,”
and to ““help public officials make decisions that are based on understanding of environmental
consequences, and take actions that protect, restore, and enhance the environment.”” Pub.
Citizen, 541 U.S. at 768-69 (emphasis added) (quoting 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(c)). Therefore,
“NEPA’s core focus [is] on improving agency decisionmaking,” Pub. Citizen, 541 U.S. at 769
n.2, and specifically on ensuring that agencies take a “hard look” at potential environmental
impacts and environmentally enhancing alternatives “as part of the agency’s process of deciding
whether to pursue a particular federal action.” Baltimore Gas and Elec. Co. v. Natural Res. Def.
Council, 462 U.S. 87, 100 (1983). The alternatives analysis “is the heart” of an EIS or EA. 40
C.F.R. §1502.14. NEPA'’s implementing regulations require that the decisionmaking agency
“present the environmental impacts of the proposal and the alternatives in comparative form,
thus sharply defining the issues and providing a clear basis for choice among options by the
decisionmaker and the public.” Id.

An EIS must be prepared by an agency for every “major Federal action significantly
affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(c). Under the Council on
Environmental Quality’s (“CEQ”) regulations that implement NEPA, “significance” requires
consideration of both context and intensity. “Context” considerations include the affected
region, interests and locality, varying with the setting of the action, and include both short and
long-term effects. “Intensity” refers to the severity of impact, including impacts that may be
both beneficial and adverse; unique characteristics of the geographic area, such as proximity to
wetlands, wild and scenic rivers, or ecologically critical areas; the degree to which the effects on
the quality of the human environment are likely to be highly controversial; the degree to which
the action may establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects or represents a
decision in principle about a future consideration; whether the action is related to other actions
with individually insignificant but cumulatively significant impacts; the degree to which the
action may adversely affect an endangered or threatened species or its habitat that has been

direct the Service to exempt such operations wholesale but, rather, to ensure that they are
conducted with plans approved by the Service and designed to minimize bird mortality. See id. §
315,50 C.F.R. § 21.15. Thus, any notion that ANG may simply disregard the MBTA’s take
prohibition in operating a wind power project is impossible to reconcile with Congress’s actions,
as well as with the Service’s repeated admonitions.
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determined to be critical under the ESA; and whether the action threatens a violation of federal
law imposed for the protection of the environment. See 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27.

Where a significant environmental impact is not expected, the agency must still prepare
an EA and a Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI). Id. §8 1508.9, 1501.3.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is an extraordinary situation in which a federal “action agency” has repeatedly
rebuffed the views of the expert federal agency with principal responsibility for ensuring
compliance with the ESA, BGEPA, and MBTA. Because it is so unusual and legally
problematic for a federal agency to proceed in this manner, we will detail at some length the
history of the Service’s communications with ANG concerning the project.

A. The Service’s 2007 Comments

In October 2007, ANG’s consultant requested information from the Service concerning
the existence and abundance of federally-protected species on and near the proposed Camp Perry
project site. At that time, ANG anticipated constructing three wind turbines.

On December 4, 2007, the Service responded to ANG’s request for information, and
indicated significant concerns with ANG’s proposal due to the importance of the project site for
avian migration. The site is adjacent to the Ottawa National Wildlife Refuge (“NWR”) which
has been known to be a “major migration corridor” for various types of avian species and has
been designated by non-profit bird advocacy organizations as a “Globally Important Bird Area.”
See Exhibit 1 at 2. Thus, the Service explained its expert opinion that the agency “has serious
concerns that installation of a wind turbine(s) adjacent to Ottawa NWR property may have
significant impacts on birds.” 1d. (emphasis added). As to two federally endangered bird species
afforded full ESA protections — Kirtland’s warbler and piping plover — the Service determined
that it is “very likely” based on available evidence that both species will “pass through the
project area during the spring and fall migration seasons” and that both species will be placed at
risk by the project. Id. at 3.

As to bald eagles protected by BGEPA, the Service explained that “[t]he project area lies
adjacent to a woodlot that supports a nesting pair of bald eagles,” and that a total of nine bald
eagle nests exist within five miles of the project site. Id. at 2. Indeed, as the Service explained,
the project area has the “highest concentration of bald eagles in the state,” and is known to “serve
as [a] staging area[] for very large populations of immature bald eagles.” ld. Based on the
available evidence, the Service determined that “it is likely that eagles will be impacted if the
project moves forward as proposed,” and strongly recommended that “wind turbines be avoided
within 5 miles of eagle nests.” Id.

As to migratory birds protected by the MBTA, the Service opined that “[b]ecause of the
significant and documented bird use of the Federal refuge adjacent to the project area, the
Service believes that it is highly likely that the proposed project will result in bird mortality” in
violation of the Act. Id. at 4. This conclusion was based on available data indicating that certain



avian species migrate along the shoreline of Lake Erie — rather than across the lake — and on the
fact that “Ottawa NWR is known to provide stopover habitat for night-migrating landbirds as
they travel between their summer and winter grounds,” which is important considering that the
project site is located less than one mile from Lake Erie. Id. Therefore, the Service found that
the best available scientific evidence suggests “a high probability that . . . mortality of birds due
to turbine strikes would occur.” 1d.

B. The Service’s 2010 Comments

In 2010, ANG reduced the scope of the project to one turbine but did not otherwise
address the Service’s concerns that the project site is one of exceptionally high risk for species
protected by the ESA, BGEPA, and MBTA. Accordingly, on April 8, 2010, the Service sent
additional eagle-related correspondence to ANG, explaining to ANG the recently promulgated
BGEPA regulations concerning programmatic eagle take and the requirements for obtaining a
permit under those regulations. See Apr. 8, 2010 FWS Letter to ANG (Exhibit 2).

In May 2010, ANG issued a Draft EA purporting to analyze the environmental effects of
the proposal. Despite the Service’s previous determination of risk presented by the proposed
project and the agency’s recommendations for minimizing such risk, the Draft EA did not adopt
any meaningful modifications to address the threat of significant avian mortality. This led the
Service, in a June 16, 2010 letter to ANG, to voice its continued serious concerns with the
project as proposed. See June 16, 2010 FWS Letter to ANG (Exhibit 3). Inexplicably, ANG had
prepared its Draft EA seemingly without any consideration of the Service’s previous letters, “nor
was any mention given to the input [the Service] ha[s] provided on multiple occasions.” Id. at 2;
see also id. at 6. Thus, the Service provided a litany of “substantial concerns” with the Draft EA,
which the Service concluded was “inadequate,” because “[t]he Draft EA does not address the
potential for take of [endangered] species in any meaningful manner, nor does it sufficiently
address the potential take of migratory birds or Bald Eagles.” 1d. at 6.

Specifically, as to the ESA-protected Kirtland’s warbler and piping plover, the Service
again explained to ANG that both species are “known to migrate through this area, with recent
migratory records for both species.” Id. The Service found ANG’s effects analysis in the Draft
EA with respect to those species “entirely lacking,” and explained that there was “no
determination of effects to these species . . . included in the Draft EA” — a determination required
by the ESA in the event that effects to endangered species are likely. 1d.

As to bald eagles, the Service again explained that under BGEPA, “take and/or
disturbance of bald eagles is strictly prohibited without a permit, and permits may only be issued
if take is consistent with the preservation of the species, and has been minimized as much as
possible, such that any resulting take is ‘unavoidable.”” 1d. at 3-4. Based on survey data
demonstrating that “bald eagles regularly flew near . . . the project area,” and known high
concentrations of eagle nests in the vicinity of the project site, the Service explained that “[i]f
take of bald eagles occurs without a permit authorizing the take, Camp Perry would be in
violation of the BGEPA.” Id. at 4.



As to other migratory birds, the Service explained the agency’s conclusion that
“operation of the turbine may very well impact the migratory birds that occur in the region.” Id.
at 3. Calling ANG’s Draft EA analysis “an understatement” based on “many questionable
assumptions,” the Service opined that it is “highly likely that many individuals of various
migratory bird species regularly fly across the project area.” Id. Thus, according to the expert
federal wildlife agency, “it remains highly likely that migratory birds . . . will still be taken by
the project,” which “would be a violation of the MBTA.” Id.

In addition, the Service admonished ANG for what the Service discerned as various
NEPA violations. In particular, the Service explained that it would violate NEPA and its
implementing regulations — namely 40 C.F.R. § 1506.1 — to “conduct flight path observations”
only “during construction and one year after construction,” which the Service deemed legally
“inappropriate because this action would limit the choice of reasonable alternatives and could
have an adverse environmental impact.” 1d. at 4. As the Service correctly explained to ANG,
“NEPA does not allow for a ‘wait and see’ approach” to potential impacts. Id. at 5. Likewise,
the Service explained that under the circumstances ANG was required to prepare an EIS, rather
than a more cursory EA, because at least two NEPA “significance” factors were triggered by the
project due to the degree of uncertainty with respect to potential avian mortality and the almost
certain violations of federal laws in the ESA, BGEPA, and MBTA. Id. As a result, the Service
explained that “an EIS is warranted for this project.” 1d. Moreover, the Service indicated that an
EIS should be prepared “to address the unique . . . risks to migratory birds . . . that occur in the
continentally significant habitat areas in close proximity (800 m) to the project area.” 1d.*

On July 31, 2012, the Service met with ANG officials to address the Service’s bald eagle
mortality concerns. According to the Service’s meeting notes, the Service remained steadfast in
expressing “our concerns about a nesting pair of bald eagles at the northwestern portion of the
site and within 0.5 miles of the turbine site.” July 31, 2012 FWS Meeting Notes (Exhibit 5). In
addition, the Service recommended that ANG “consider seeking a take permit” for eagles. Id.
The Service also requested that ANG conduct additional studies to produce “more site specific
data” of migratory bird use of the site, but ANG planned “to begin construction this fall/winter”
before such data could be collected and analyzed. Id.

* On June 22, 2010, the state wildlife agency — the Ohio Department of Natural Resources
(“ODNR™) —sent a letter to ANG in response to the Draft EA echoing many of the concerns
raised by the Service. See June 22, 2010 ODNR Letter to ANG (Exhibit 4). ODNR explained
that “[t]he Camp Perry facility falls within the highest area of concern . . . due to potential
impacts to migratory songbirds and bald eagles.” 1d. at 1. ODNR further explained “the
significance of the landscape and habitats surrounding this project,” as “this region is nationally
renowned for its bird abundance and diversity.” Id. at 2. ODNR highlighted a recent bald eagle
wind turbine strike that occurred at a site across Lake Erie in 2009, and explained that “[d]uring
migration the Western Basin region of Lake Erie has the highest density of Kirtland’s warbler
observations in the nation.” Id. at 3-4.



C. The Final EA And The Service’s 2012 Comments

On August 22, 2012, ANG released its Final EA, which is confusing at best. For
example, the Final EA purportedly determined that “some minor environmental consequences
may occur” as a result of this project. See August 22, 2012 ANG Final EA (Exhibit 6) at 7.
Focusing on avian populations, ANG purportedly determined that the project “will not likely
result in an adverse effect to avian . . . populations over a relatively large area,” despite
acknowledging that “[c]ollision impacts to avian . . . populations may result from the birds . . .
that hunt, nest, or breed in the general proximity of Camp Perry.” Id. at 8. Asto ESA-protected
species, the Final EA purportedly determined that “the Proposed Action will have no effect on
listed avian species.” Id.

Although the Final EA conceded that “more than 300 avian species” had been
documented in the project site vicinity, see id. at 32, the Final EA significantly downplayed the
risk posed to avian species. For example, despite the fact that many eagles have been killed by
wind turbines throughout the nation, the Final EA reached the unsupported conclusion that
eagles will habituate to the Camp Perry turbine and thus avoid mortality, based in part on the
erroneous assertion that “[n]o eagle fatalities have been reported” from wind power. Id. at 56,
63. Likewise, the Final EA purportedly determined — in contradiction of the expert federal
wildlife agency’s view — that “the risk to Kirtland’s Warblers from [the project] would be very
low,” by comparing the project to dissimilar projects such as communication towers in areas that
are not migration bottlenecks as is the case with the Erie lakeshore. 1d. at 57.

As to migratory birds in general, the Final EA discounted the effects of this project by
instead shifting the focus to other types of structures and facilities that may kill birds, see id. at
61 — structures and facilities that are irrelevant to the environmental impacts of this project and
the legal obligations that attach to the project. Downplaying the effects of this turbine, the Final
EA focused on the fact that this project will only have one turbine, which the Final EA stated
was of “critical importance,” but never actually addressed the avian mortality concerns
associated with the project in this vitally important bird area. Id. at 65. Again trying to shift the
focus to populations rather than impacts to individual birds, the Final EA concluded by
purportedly determining that “[o]peration of the single wind turbine would result in a very small
incremental increase in the number of birds . . . killed by wind turbines in the region,” and
further that “the turbine would not result in significant impacts to the populations of any listed or
common species.” Id. at 74; see also id. at 77 (stating that “[a] small number of raptors maybe
affected by collision, but those potential fatalities are not likely to result in biologically
significant impacts”).

> As is common throughout the Final EA, the primary “evidence” upon which ANG’s
counterintuitive determinations — which conflict with the views of the federal (and state) wildlife
agency with jurisdiction over avian species — is little more than non-peer reviewed monitoring
data collected by ANG’s own paid consultant (Curry & Kerlinger), which has been hired to
facilitate project construction by many wind energy facilities. See id. at 55-77. The lack of
scientific foundation underlying ANG’s conclusions is deeply troubling, and even more so
considering the potential conflicts of interest inherent in the process of allowing a paid consultant
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On September 25, 2012, the Service sent a detailed response to the Final EA, yet again
admonishing ANG’s handling of its legal obligations under the ESA, BGEPA, and the MBTA.
See Sept. 25, 2012 FWS Letter to ANG (Exhibit 7). Reiterating that the Service has “significant
concerns,” the Service maintained that, notwithstanding the Final EA, “we believe that siting a
wind turbine at the proposed location presents a high level of risk to migratory birds.” 1d. at 1
(emphasis added). Providing various reasons, the Service concluded that “[t]he current site . . .
does not reflect a site that minimizes potential effects on wildlife.” Id. at 1-2 (emphasis added).®

As to endangered Kirtland’s warblers and piping plovers, the Service disputed the Final
EA’s unsupported insistence that the turbine would not result in any mortality of those species,
and explained that “the proximity of the project to Lake Erie may expose these species to risk
from the turbine.” Id. at 4-5. Therefore, because ANG had yet to make an effects determination
pursuant to section 7 of the ESA, the Service “request[ed] that ANG make a determination of
effects . . . [for] piping plover [and] Kirtland’s warbler, and submit it to this office for
concurrence.” Id. As the Service, explained, “[t]he determination of effects should also include
a rationale for why each determination is appropriate, listing any proposed avoidance and
minimization measures that will be implemented to reduce the likelihood of take.” Id.”

With respect to eagles, the Service reiterated its significant eagle mortality concerns,
based on the fact that “Ottawa County has the highest nesting density of bald eagles in the State
of Ohio,” including “60 known bald eagle nests within 10 miles of the proposed project area.”

Id. at 6. The Service corrected the Final EA’s erroneous assertion of no wind-related eagle
mortalities, explaining that “[t]ake of bald eagles at several wind power facilities in the eastern
U.S. and Canada has recently been documented, including take of a bald eagle at a single small
turbine.” Id. Because the available “data indicate the presence of a migration corridor and
stopover area for bald eagles along the western basin of Lake Erie, which would include the
project area,” the Service determined that it is “likely that your project may overlap [a] type of
eagle use area — a migration and wintering area.” Id. at 7. As a result, the Service concluded that

to steer ANG’s NEPA and project review process in a manner that will benefit the consultant’s
own interest in attracting additional business from wind power companies.

® To the extent that ANG has asserted that migratory birds are unlikely to fly below 1,000 feet,
that unfounded assertion cannot be reconciled with abundant empirical data from this region
indicating that a significant number of birds fly below that height. See, e.g., FWS, Bird Radar
Data, available at http://www.fws.gov/radar/radarmap/index.html.

" In an effort to reduce the mortality risk to birds, including federally protected species, the
Service repeatedly recommended that ANG consider various siting and operational minimization
measures designed to reduce bird mortality. See Exhibit 1 at 4-5. In particular, the Service
strongly recommended that, if ANG insisted on proceeding with the project at this extremely
high risk site, that ANG at least adopt the measure of “not operating the wind turbine at night
during the spring and fall migratory period for these species (combined, from April 1-Junel, and
from July 15-Oct. 15),” which the Service believed would at least reduce the risk to various
species, including those protected under the ESA, BGEPA, and MBTA. See, e.g., Exhibit 7 at 5.
To date, however, ANG has refused to take even that modest step which, in ABC’s view, would
be inadequate to address the project’s unacceptable risks to federally protected birds.
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“incidental take of bald eagles may be likely over the life of this project,” and recommended that
ANG apply for an eagle take permit which would require ANG to “minimize impacts to eagles to
the maximum degree achievable.” 1d.

With respect to migratory birds generally, the Service again explained that “the project
area lies within a region that is globally significant for migratory birds.” Id. at 10. Further, the
Service stated that “[b]irds stopping over during migration would be expected to travel at lower
altitudes than migrating birds, and would be more susceptible to turbines than birds in locations
that do not provide migration stopover habitat.” 1d. at 11. As a result of this and other factors,
the Service opined that the data “indicates a high probability of bird mortality due to turbine
strikes.” 1d.

The Service also offered more general comments with respect to ANG’s legal and
scientific approach in the Final EA, which was at odds with the mandates that apply to ANG’s
evaluation of environmental impacts under governing laws. For example, the Service explained
that ANG’s continued reliance on population-level impacts was inappropriate as to the ESA,
BGEPA, and the MBTA - all of which “prohibit take of individual animals protected under those
respective statutes without a permit.” Id. at 13. The Service also noted that “the Service does
not agree with the analysis provided” on Kirtland’s warblers in the Final EA, because
population-level analysis is irrelevant under section 7 of the ESA, and instead “[t]he analysis
should consider whether the project will result in take of individuals.” Id. at 15.

In addition, the Service also discredited eagle flight path data that had been collected by
ANG’s consultant as it was not “sufficient to conclude that bald eagles are not flying through the
proposed project area during all seasons or all times of the year.” Id. The Service also explained
that this project’s siting is expected to result in “considerably higher than average bird mortality
rates,” thus making comparisons with nationwide or even regionwide wind turbine data
inappropriate. 1d. at 16-17. Moreover, the Service rejected the Final EA’s comparison of this
project to communication towers for bird mortality predictions, because those comparisons are
“not appropriate in this context,” nor are they “relevant to the proposed project.” Id. at 17. The
Service also raised serious concerns with the Final EA’s purportedly “conclusive statements
about bird risk based on radar data that ANG determined was corrupted and inadequate.” 1d.
Finally, the Service corrected ANG’s incorrect legal standard it was applying under the MBTA,
and explained that “[u]nder the MBTA, all take of migratory birds without a permit authorizing
such take is illegal” and “[t]here is not a significance threshold.” Id. at 18.

Furthermore, the Service continued to stress its dismay that ANG — a federal agency —
was refusing to site its wind project in a lower-risk location for wildlife and was insisting on
ignoring the expert agency’s recommended minimization measures. In particular, the Service
explained, “[a]s a federal government agency, we hope to work with other Federal agencies to
set good examples for siting wind turbines in areas of lower risk to wildlife,” but “[w]ith no site-
specific data indicating otherwise, we believe that the significant habitat features in the
surrounding landscape and documented significant bird use of these areas indicates the proposed
site poses a high risk to migratory birds.” 1d. The Service was especially concerned with the
precedential nature of ANG’s refusal to comply with laws under the Service’s jurisdiction in
siting and operating its wind turbine —a NEPA “significance” factor triggering the need for an
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EIS — explaining that “we believe that Federal agencies should work closely with us in siting
turbines to minimize the potential effect on wildlife resources, setting a good example for the
public to follow.” 1d. at 1 (emphasis added).?

Echoing the Service’s concerns, ODNR - the state wildlife agency — similarly reiterated
its “significant concerns regarding the impacts this facility may have on local and migratory
birds.” September 25, 2012 ODNR Letter to ANG (Exhibit 8) at 1. ODNR explained that the
project’s “proposed location for this turbine falls in an area of greatest concern due to proximity
to state and federal conservation areas, bald eagle nests, and the shoreline of Lake Erie.” Id. As
to the ESA-listed warbler and plover, ODNR - like the Service — concluded that “[t]he EA fails
to provide an adequate evaluation of potential impacts,” and “disagrees with the assessment that .
.. the risk of turbines is low for th[ese] species.” 1d. at 3. Accordingly, ODNR recommended
that the “[r]isk of potential impact . . . should be addressed through project siting, design, and
known species distribution.” 1d.°

On July 10, 2013, ANG issued a Final EA “Addendum,” purporting to respond to the
comments received from the Service and ODNR. See July 10, 2013 ANG Final EA Addendum
(Exhibit 9). However, rather than effectively rebut the expert agencies’ comments, the
Addendum presented a one-sided, result-oriented (and erroneous) view of both the science and
the law. See id. at 2-3. For example, the Addendum refused to accept that individual birds are
protected by the “take” prohibitions in the ESA, MBTA, and BGEPA, and insisted instead that
“jeopardy to the continued existence of any species” was the only proper threshold for analysis,
which is legally baseless. Id. at 2. The Addendum also erroneously asserted that only
“deliberate acts” are illegal under the MBTA, and that incidental take is not treated as an MBTA
violation. Id.

D. The FONSI And The Service’s 2013 Comments

On August 22, 2013, ANG issued a FONSI. See Aug. 22, 2013 ANG FONSI (Exhibit
10). Despite previously acknowledging that more than 300 avian species are known in the
vicinity of the project site, the FONSI asserted that “[a] low diversity and small numbers of avian
... species occur where the turbine will be located and in adjoining areas of Camp Perry.” Id. at
2. While conceding that “[e]agles occur in the area year-round and nest in nearby woodlands”

® As discussed below, there are several other NEPA significance factors present including
predictable violations of federal environmental laws (ESA, BGEPA, and MBTA), and nearby
wetlands and other ecologically critical areas for birds and other wildlife whose resources will be
impacted by the project.

° In addition to federal and state wildlife agencies, various science-based conservation
organizations submitted comments to ANG requesting that ANG site the turbine in a lower-risk
location. The organizations are especially concerned that this turbine — in conjunction with other
threats facing avian species — will have a negative impact on the approximately $37 million
annual revenue brought to local communities directly resulting from birding activities in Ottawa
County.
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and that “[t]hey are observed flying over Camp Perry,” the FONSI inexplicably concludes that
“collision impacts to these species are not expected.” Id. at 3. The FONSI states that “[i]t is
possible, but not likely, that a small number of songbirds and a smaller number of raptors may
collide with the turbine during the life of the project.” Id. Focusing on a threshold not found in
the ESA itself of “significant impacts,” the FONSI purportedly determined that “[n]o impacts to
endangered and threatened species are anticipated by the Proposed Action.” Id. at 4.

On September 10, 2013, the Service responded to ANG’s Final EA and FONSI. Yet
again rejecting ANG’s overly optimistic assertions and legally erroneous conclusions, the
Service explained that “we believe operation of the turbine could result in take of bald eagles,”
and explained that “[i]n situations where eagle take is likely, permits are available to authorize a
limited amount of take.” Sept. 10, 2013 FWS Letter to ANG (Exhibit 11) at 1. The Service yet
again disputed ANG’s conclusion that take of bald eagles is unlikely, and explained that if ANG
proceeds without a BGEPA permit it “assume[s] the risk of violating the Bald and Golden Eagle
Protection Act.” Id. at 1-2.

As to endangered warblers and plovers, contrary to ANG’s assessment, the Service
continued to state its “belie[f] that the proposed wind turbine presents a potential risk of take to
the federally endangered Kirtland’s warbler and piping plover,” which was “further substantiated
by two new observations of piping plover at Camp Perry this year.” Id. at 2. Again disagreeing
with ANG, the Service indicated that “take of Kirtland’s warbler and piping plover is likely due
to the location of the project relative to migration paths, suitable habitat, and species
occurrence data.” Id. (emphasis added). As to migratory birds generally, the Service also did
not retreat from its position that the project as planned will violate the MBTA’s take prohibition.
Rather, the Service “continue[d] to recommend implementation of the avoidance and
minimization measures as described in our September 25, 2012 letter to minimize the potential
effects on migratory birds.” Exhibit 11 at 3.

DISCUSSION

Based on ABCs review of the project — which is consistent with more than six years of
extensive analysis by the federal and state expert wildlife agencies — the selected site of the
Camp Perry ANG wind turbine in Ottawa County, Ohio presents an extremely high risk of bird
collision mortality (in addition to flight disturbance and other harassment) to a significant
number of protected migratory bird species — including federally endangered Kirtland’s warblers
and piping plovers, as well as bald eagles — that are known to reside in the vicinity of the project
site and routinely migrate through the project site’s air space.

Indeed, it is ABC’s view that it would be difficult to find a higher-risk site for a wind
turbine considering that: (1) the project is adjacent to the Ottawa NWR, which the Service
recognizes as a “major migration corridor” for waterfowl, shorebirds, raptors, and songbirds that
stop after traversing Lake Erie before continuing their migration; (2) the adjacent refuge is vitally
important to a variety of bird species which has led to numerous designations, including as an
American Bird Conservancy Globally Important Bird Area, a site of regional significance in the
Western Hemisphere Shorebird Reserve Network, and a Top 10 birding destination; (3) the
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project site is less than a mile from the shore of Lake Erie; and (4) the project site is proximate to
the Portage River and other large coastal wetland complexes.

For these and other reasons articulated by the Service and ODNR throughout the six-year
review process, this project is not only biologically and ecologically unsound, but, as presently
planned, it is certain to result in patent violations of the ESA, BGEPA, MBTA, and NEPA, as
described in more detail below.

A. ESA Violations

1. By Proceeding with the Project without Engaging in Formal
Consultation or Obtaining FWS Concurrence that the Project Is Not
Likely to Affect Endangered Species, ANG Is in Violation of Section 7.

Section 7 of the ESA and its implementing regulations mandate that, where the best
available scientific evidence demonstrates that an action “may affect listed species,” “formal
consultation is required” and the Service must prepare a biological opinion fully analyzing the
effects to any such species, 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a)-(g) (emphases added), as well as establishing
mandatory terms and conditions for minimizing any “take” of the species. 16 U.S.C. §
1536(b)(4)(C)(iv). The burden to commence the consultation process falls on the action agency
— here ANG - as the regulations state that “[e]ach Federal agency shall review its actions at the
earliest possible time to determine whether any action may affect listed species.” 50 C.F.R. §
402.13. If any impact to a listed species “may” occur, “formal consultation is required” unless
“the Federal agency determines, with the written concurrence of the [Service], that the proposed
action is not likely to adversely affect any listed species.” 1d. 8§ 402.14(a)-(b).

As courts have explained, “*may affect’ is a ‘relatively low’ threshold for triggering
consultation,” and thus “[a]ny possible effect, whether beneficial, benign, adverse or of an
undetermined character, triggers the requirement” for formal consultation. Karuk Tribe v. Forest
Serv., 681 F.3d 1006, 1027 (9th Cir. 2012) (quoting FWS & NMFS, Establishment of ESA
Section 7 Regulations, 51 Fed. Reg. 19926, 19949 (June 3, 1986)) (other citations omitted).
Only if the Service concurs in writing that such an action is not likely to have any adverse effect
on a species may formal consultation be avoided. See 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(b)(1).

Here, ANG has violated the ESA by failing to engage in formal consultation and by
failing even to submit a “not likely to adversely affect” determination for the Service’s written
concurrence — which, as explained, is the only legal means by which formal consultation may be
avoided. Moreover, ANG has compounded its violation of section 7 and the ESA’s
implementing regulations by refusing even to render a formal effects determination with respect
to the endangered Kirtland’s warbler and the endangered piping plover. Despite the Service’s
repeated requests for ANG to submit such a determination for the Service’s evaluation, see
Exhibit 7 at 5, 14; Exhibit 11 at 2, ANG has ignored those requests. Presumably, ANG has
refused to do so because any such determination would have to acknowledge that the project
obviously “may” affect the ESA-listed species that traverse the project site — thus triggering the
ESA consultation process that ANG is endeavoring unlawfully to circumvent.
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In any event, the fact that the Service — the federal expert wildlife agency — has expressly
rejected ANG’s unfounded determination that take of Kirtland’s warblers and piping plovers is
unlikely, see, e.g., Exhibit 11 at 2, particularly because ANG has not committed to the only
minimization measure (seasonal turbine curtailment during known migratory periods) urged by
the Service, see Exhibit 11 at 2; Exhibit 7 at 5, leaves little doubt that the Service would refuse to
concur in a “not likely to adversely affect” determination under these circumstances. The fact
that the Service’s position dictates the conclusion that formal consultation — resulting in a full
Biological Opinion, including an Incidental Take Statement — is necessary here renders ANG’s
refusal even to submit a formal effects determination for the Service’s review arbitrary,
capricious, and glaringly in contravention of the process mandated by the ESA for protecting
endangered and threatened species.

2. ANG Is Also Violating ESA Section 9 by Proceeding in the Absence of
Incidental Take Authorization with a Project that Is Highly Likely to
Take Endangered Species.

ANG’s proposed wind turbine, as currently sited, will almost certainly result in the
incidental taking of endangered Kirtland’s warblers and endangered piping plovers without
incidental take authorization from the Service, which is a violation of the take prohibition in
section 9 of the ESA.

The conclusion that endangered warblers and plovers are likely to be taken by ANG’s
wind turbine is consistent with the assessment conducted by every independent biologist or
agency to review this project over the past six years. See, e.g., Exhibit 1 at 3; Exhibit 7 at 5;
Exhibit 8 at 3; Exhibit 11 at 2. To date, the only entity to reach a contrary conclusion is ANG’s
paid consultant Curry & Kerlinger — a company that almost exclusively provides consulting
services to wind energy facilities and other industries. In any event, even at various points after
ANG released its Draft EA, Final EA, Addendum, and FONSI all reaching a contrary conclusion
based primarily on their own consultant’s non-peer reviewed data collected for other wind
energy clients, the expert federal and state wildlife agencies determined that the best available
scientific evidence did not support ANG’s unfounded conclusion. See, e.g., Exhibit 11 at 2.

Accordingly, because take of endangered Kirtland’s warblers and endangered piping
plovers remains highly likely in the absence of ANG’s commitment to adopt minimization
measures that may potentially reduce the likelihood of take to a lower threat level, ANG is
proceeding without take authorization in violation of section 9 of the ESA. See, e.g., Animal
Welfare Inst. v. Beech Ridge Energy LLC, 675 F. Supp. 2d 540 (D. Md. 2009) (finding
reasonable likelihood of take of endangered Indiana bats during 20-year life of wind energy
project and enjoining construction and operation pending company obtaining incidental take
authorization from the Service). Therefore, unless and until ANG obtains section 7 incidental
take authorization from the Service, any construction and/or operation will occur in violation of
section 9 of the ESA and its implementing regulations.

Moreover, if ANG begins construction before obtaining incidental take authorization, it

would also violate section 7(d) of the ESA. Since the only lawful course of action is for ANG to
consult with the Service via the section 7 consultation process and obtain an incidental take
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statement, the ESA explicitly prohibits ANG from “mak[ing] any irreversible or irretrievable
commitment of resources . . . which has the effect of foreclosing the formulation or
implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative measures.” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d).
Thus, any construction activity, such as tree cutting, turbine site grading, or other habitat
modification, that in any way forecloses a potential wildlife avoidance or mitigation alternative
for the Service to consider in rendering a final decision in formal consultation (e.g., micrositing
changes to the turbine location), is a separate and distinct violation of the ESA. The principle
espoused by Congress in section 7(d) is the same reason that the Beech Ridge court enjoined the
majority of turbine construction and operation at that wind energy facility, holding that the
section 10 process might find certain turbine locations inappropriate because of bat impacts and
also that wildlife alternatives should not be foreclosed by premature construction and operation.
Beech Ridge Energy, 675 F. Supp. 2d at 581; see also Fla. Key Deer v. Brown, 386 F. Supp. 2d
1281, 1293 (S.D. Fla. 2005) (explaining that section 7(d) “prevent[s] Federal agencies [and
permit applicants] from steamrolling activities in order to secure completion of projects
regardless of the impacts on endangered species™).

B. BGEPA Violations

BGEPA strictly prohibits incidental “take” of any bald or golden eagle “at any time or in
any manner” “without being permitted to do so” by the Service. 16 U.S.C. 88 668(a)-668(b).
BGEPA defines the term “take” broadly to include “wound, Kill . . . molest or disturb.” Id. §
668c. The only way an activity may lawfully proceed if it will incidentally take eagles is by
applying for and obtaining an eagle take permit from the Service, so long as the applicant can
establish that the project — along with minimization measures — results in take that is (1)
“compatible with the preservation” of eagles; (2) necessary to protect an interest in a particular
locality; (3) associated with but not the purpose of the activity; and (4) for individual instances of
take, the take cannot practicably be avoided; or for programmatic take, take is unavoidable even
though advanced conservation practices are being implemented. 50 C.F.R. § 22.26(f). The only
way that a permit is not required is if the Service determines that “take is not likely to occur.” Id.
§ 22.26(9).

Here, as with the ESA-listed species, all available evidence indicates that this is a high
risk site for bald eagles that is highly likely to result in turbine collision-related eagle take. This
conclusion is consistent with all independent biologists and agencies to review this project. See
Exhibit 1 at 2; Exhibit 2; Exhibit 3 at 3-4; Exhibit 4; Exhibit 5; Exhibit 7 at 6-7; Exhibit 8 at 1;
Exhibit 11 at 1-2. While ANG’s paid consultant reached a different conclusion, that unfounded
assertion simply cannot overcome the weight of the evidence that clearly indicates that this is an
important eagle use area for breeding, migration, and wintering, leading to the inevitable
conclusion that bald eagle collisions with ANG’s turbine are highly likely.

Accordingly, by proceeding with a project that is virtually certain to take bald eagles
without first obtaining a permit from the Service to do so, particularly without any commitment
by ANG to adopt key minimization measures that could reduce the likelihood of eagle take,
ANG is proceeding with a project “not in accordance with law” —i.e., BGEPA - and therefore is
violating the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”). 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). See, e.g., Glickman,
217 F.3d at 884-88 (holding that where a permit is required before killing of wildlife may
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commence, federal agencies must obtain authorization from the Service before any protected
wildlife dies as a result of the action at issue, because otherwise the failure to obtain the required
permit violates the APA); Pirie, 191 F. Supp. 2d at 174-78 (holding that where a federal
agency’s incidental take of birds without a required permit violates a governing statute, that
constitutes a violation of the APA because it is “not in accordance with law™).

C. MBTA Violations

The MBTA protects most, if not all, of the hundreds of bird species that traverse the
major migration corridor in which Camp Perry is located. See 50 C.F.R. § 10.13 (listing the
birds protected by the MBTA); Final List of Bird Species to Which the MBTA Does Not Apply,
70 Fed. Reg. 12710 (Mar. 15, 2005).

There is no legitimate dispute that some migratory birds will be killed by ANG’s turbine
as even ANG concedes that some deaths are possible, although the amount of migratory bird
mortality predicted by federal and state wildlife agencies is much higher than the estimate
arrived at by ANG’s hired consultant. See, e.g., Exhibit 1 at 2-5; Exhibit 3 at 3; Exhibit 6 at 74,
77; Exhibit 7 at 1, 10-11. At any rate, each death of an MBTA-protected bird will constitute a
distinct violation of the MBTA in the absence of a permit — which ANG has not pursued —
because it is a strict liability statute.™

By proceeding with this project without authorization under the MBTA and in the
absence of minimization measures that reduce the likelihood of migratory bird take, ANG’s
project is in direct conflict with the MBTA’s prohibitions, and, in turn, ANG’s project is “not in
accordance to law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

D. NEPA Violations

ANG’s Final EA, Addendum, and FONSI have not satisfied the applicable “hard look”
standard of NEPA. In particular, because of the critical importance of the project site as a highly

19 While ANG refers in its Final EA Addendum to ANG’s erroneous understanding that only
“deliberate acts” are illegal under the MBTA, and that incidental take is not treated as an MBTA
violation, see Exhibit 9 at 2, that is simply a fundamental misunderstanding of the MBTA. Asa
federal district court has explained,

[F]ederal agencies can be subject to suits for violations of the MBTA pursuant to
the APA’s prohibition on unlawful action regardless of whether those violations
are intentional or unintentional. Whether the agency intentionally kills the birds
or not, it is violating the law. And because the APA provides a cause of action to
challenge unlawful agency actions, whether or not one federal agency has violated
a federal law is not an issue left to the prosecutorial discretion of another federal
agency.

Pirie, 191 F. Supp. 2d at 177.
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sensitive area for hundreds of species of migratory birds — including endangered warblers and
plovers, as well as bald eagles — an EA is highly inappropriate under the circumstances, and as a
result an EIS is required by NEPA and its implementing regulations. This is consistent with the
Service’s insistence that “an EIS is warranted” by this project. Exhibit 3 at 5.

In light of the many significant environmental impacts that will result from this project as
planned, an EIS must be completed here to fulfill the Service’s NEPA obligations. Indeed,
several of the NEPA “significance” factors are triggered by the proposed action, although the
presence of only one significance factor requires preparation of an EIS. Pub. Citizen v. Dept. of
Transp., 316 F.3d 1002, 1023 (9th Cir. 2003) (“If the agency’s action is environmentally
‘significant’ according to any of these criteria [set forth in 40 C.F.R. 1508.27], then DOT erred
in failing to prepare an EIS.”); Humane Soc’y of the U.S. v. Johanns, 520 F. Supp. 2d 8, 20
(D.D.C. 2007) (explaining that “courts have found that the presence of one or more of [the CEQ
significance] factors should result in an agency decision to prepare an EIS”) (citations omitted);
Fund For Animals v. Norton, 281 F. Supp. 2d 209, 218 (D.D.C. 2003) (same). The following
significance factors are triggered here, thus requiring preparation of an EIS:

e 40 C.F.R. §1508.27(b)(3) — This factor is triggered where the proposed action will affect
“[u]nique characteristics of the geographic area such as proximity to historic or cultural
resources, park lands, prime farmlands, wetlands, wild and scenic rivers, or ecologically
critical areas.” ANG’s wind turbine is certain to affect nearby wetlands complexes and
the Portage River, which are critical for migratory bird stopovers for hundreds of
migratory bird species. The project will also affect what the Service has determined is a
“major migration corridor” for birds. See Exhibit 1 at 1. In addition, this project will
necessarily affect avian populations that stop in and migrate through an undoubtedly
“ecologically critical area” in the Ottawa NWR that is adjacent to the project site. See,
e.g., id. at 1-2; Exhibit 3 at 5 (the Service indicating that an EIS should be prepared “to
address the unique . . . risks to migratory birds . . . that occur in the continentally
significant habitat areas in close proximity (800 m) to the project area.”). Thus, because
“wetlands” and “ecologically critical areas” — and the biological resources found therein
— will be substantially impacted by 